
 

CITY OF MURFREESBORO 

 

HISTORIC ZONING COMMISSION 

 

Regular Meeting June 21, 2022 

3:30 PM, Council Chambers, City Hall 

 

 

I. Call to Order and determination of a quorum 

 

II. Approve Minutes of the Regular Meeting on March 15, 2022 

 

III. Election of Officers for 2022-2023 

 

IV. New Business 

 

a. H-22--002  444 East College Street, Brad Chambers- 

Requesting changes from approved plans of the design review for a new 

single-family residence currently under construction pertaining to front 

porch, front steps, sidewalk, chimney and windows. 

 

b. H-22--006  208 North Maney Avenue, Jeff Neely- 

Requesting to enclose an existing covered patio. 

 

V. Staff Reports and Other Business 

 

V. Adjourn 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



City of Murfreesboro 

Historic Zoning Commission 

Staff Comments 

Regular meeting: June 21, 2022 
 

New Business: 

 

a. H-22--002  444 East College Street, Brad Chambers-  

     Requesting changes from approved plans of the design review for a new single-       

     family residence currently under construction pertaining to front porch, front steps,    

      sidewalk, front porch columns, dormer roof, chimney and windows. 

 

 
 

 

 

This property is located on the south side of East College Street several lots to the west of 

North Highland Avenue. The house was constructed circa 1900 in the Vernacular style 

with a hipped style shingled roof, square plan, decorative cresting, aluminum siding and 



classical porch.  This house is a contributing structure in the North Maney Avenue Historic 

District of the National Register of Historic Places.  The property contains approximately 

0.21 acres and is zoned RS-8 (Single-Family Residential District 8) and H-1 (Historic 

Zoning Overlay District). It is also located in the CCO (City Core Overlay) district.  On 

January 18, 2022, the HZC approved the exterior remodel of the existing house.  The house 

was utilized as a duplex and the applicant has returned the house to a single-family dwelling 

unit. During construction some deviations to the approved plans were made by the 

applicant which require discussion with the HZC.  The applicants are requesting the 

following modifications to the approved plans from the January 2022 approval.  

 

1. Replace roof with either white metal standing seam roof or black shingle as 

currently exists.   

Proposed modification-The applicant wishes to change the dormer roof to 

white standing seam metal instead of black shingles due to the style of the 

roof. 

2. All existing window and door wooden casings are to remain. 

Proposed modification-The windows installed at the time of HZC approval 

were various types of windows with wood casings.  Photos have been 

included in the agenda package.  

3. Replace all windows with wood windows; applicant must provide product 

information for administrative approval prior to issuance of a building permit; staff-

approved windows and product information is in the agenda package.    

Proposed modification-Applicant wishes to discuss vinyl windows encased 

in wood on the side elevations due to various types of windows previously 

installed and irregular shaped windows. 

4. Replace front columns with square tapered columns with bottom and top caps, these 

will be handmade  

Proposed modification-The applicant is not happy with current columns; 

desires to make them larger than current photos. 

5. Add concrete cap to existing steps and sidewalk to street sidewalk.  

Proposed modification-steps and sidewalk are now bricked to match the 

house brick 

6. Wooden front porch floor to be pressure washed and stained  

Proposed modification-front porch is now concrete. 

7. Repair chimney brick and replace cap.  

Proposed modification-chimney removed and is not going to be replaced. 

 

Pictures of the home as it exists today, and the originally approved sketched renderings of 

the home by the HZC have been provided in the agenda.   

 

The applicant will attend the meeting in order to answer any questions the Commission 

may have regarding the request.  

 



House in 2019- 444 East College 

House in 2021- 444 East College 



 
House to the west – 442 East College 

 
House to the east 448 & 450 East College 

 



House across the street 449 East College 

House currently- 444 East College 



Original Windows 

 

 
 



 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



10 I WOOD WINDOWS AND PATIO DOORS 

Double-Hung 
• Suited to many architectural styles

• Features an upper and lower sash that
slide vertically past each other in a
single frame

• Both sash tilt for easy cleaning

• Wider sash and stile profile available

Minimum: 

19-1/4" X 35-1/4"

Maximum Width: 

41-3/8" X 64"

Maximum Height: 

37-3/8" X 76"

Fixed, Radius, 

and Geometric 
• Create intriguing window arrangements

with other window types

• Ideal for capturing a scenic view

• Direct-set options available

• Radius interior casing

• Wider sash and stile profile available

Minimum and maximum 

sizing depends on the 

shape and configuration 

of window selected. 

---

-----
---

--�-- -

jeld-wen.com I 11 

Approved windows











Original Columns & Porch 

New Columns & Porch 



Original porch-steps & Chimney 

 
New porch, steps and sidewalk 

 



 

  

Creating a better quality of life   

To initiate a Historic Zoning Commission Application, an applicant must submit the following: 

1. A completed HZC Application Certificate of Appropriateness (below). 

2. A non-refundable application fee (prices listed above). 

3. Meet with HZC Planner about application. 

To be completed by applicant:     Date:  ______________________ 

 
Owner: __________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Owner’s Address: __________________________________________   Phone:  ________________ 

 

Address of Property (if different than above) _____________________________________________ 

 

Current Use: ______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Describe property / structure (e.g. architectural style, date of construction, condition of structure, history 

of structure, if known, etc.) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Is this a “contributing” structure?  Yes _____     No _____ 

Is the property or structure listed on the National Register of Historic Places?  Yes_____     No_____ 

Check proposed action(s): 

_____Alteration _____Addition  _____Demolition _____New Construction 

_____Exterior Repairs / Maintenance (No Appearance Changes) 

 

Description of the work to be performed on the property: 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

HZC Application Fees 

Certificate of Appropriateness 
HZC Application (Goes to Meeting) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $150.00                                                                                                              

HZC Application (Admin Approval) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 75.00                                   
 

1/4/22

Mike woods

108 glen echo drive, smyrna, Tn 37167 615-260-5925

444 e college st, Murfreesboro, Tn 37130

? Duplex

Bungalow, early 1900’s, fair

Not that I am aware of.

? Insulate and replace exterior with new lp smart board. Replace roof with a tin style roof mimicking Neighbor directly across E College St. Revert back to a single living 
property.

dotloop signature verification: dtlp.us/LU8P-Qy9o-MKLi

https://dtlp.us/LU8P-Qy9o-MKLi


Provide:  Photographs, scaled drawings of the plans, elevations and materials to assist the 

Commission in deciding 

 

 

Architect: __________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Address: __________________________________________   Phone:  _________________________  

 

Contractor: _________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Address: __________________________________________   Phone:  ________________________ 

 

Is there an application relevant to this property and the subject of modifications or improvements pending 

or contemplated before the Board of Zoning Appeals, Planning Commission or City Council? 

_____Yes  _____No 

 

If yes, please specify:  _________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Who will represent the owner at the Historic Zoning Commission meeting? 

Note:  The representative needs to be present at the meeting to answer questions and should have the 

authority to commit the owner to make changes suggested or required by the Historic Zoning 

Commission.   

 

Name: ____________________________________________   Phone: _________________________ 

 

Address:  __________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Title or Relationship to Owner:  ________________________________________________________ 

 

Information:   

There will be two inspections prior to completion of the Certificate of Appropriateness.  One near 

midway of the project and one at the completion of the project.  Call 615-893-6441 at lease two working 

days prior to each the inspection.  Upon completing the project, according to the application, the owner 

will receive a copy of the Certificate of Appropriateness in the mail. 

 

Please complete these forms and submit them to the Planning Department by 3:00 p.m. on the submittal 

date indicated on the HZC yearly calendar. 

 

Approvals for Certificates of Appropriateness allow six months to begin construction.  If work has not 

commenced with that timeframe, the approval will be expired. 

 

 

SIGNATURE OF OWNER:  ________________________________________________________ 

 

SIGNATURE OF AGENT (when applicable):  __________________________________________ 

 

 

*****For Office Use Only************************************************************ 

 

Date received: _________   Receipt #: _________   Amt Paid: _________   HZC #: __________ 

Anne Jost

615-335-13231850 General Patton Drive, Suite b-100, Franklin, Tn 37067

Chambers Construction and Real Estate LLC

615-785-1511701 n spring st, Murfreesboro, Tn 37130

Brad Chambers 615-785-1511

701 N Spring St, Murfreesboro, Tn 37130

Business Partner

Mike Woods
dotloop verified
01/04/22 5:58 PM 
ECT
08ZT-XAIB-2JRJ-WJU8

Brad Chambers dotloop verified
01/04/22 5:46 PM EST
DPYY-9NCW-WLAK-3B9B

dotloop signature verification: dtlp.us/LU8P-Qy9o-MKLi

https://dtlp.us/LU8P-Qy9o-MKLi
https://dtlp.us/LU8P-Qy9o-MKLi
https://dtlp.us/LU8P-Qy9o-MKLi








 

 

 

 

 

 

 

February 2, 2022 

 

 

 

Brad Chambers, on behalf of Mike Woods 

701 N. Spring St 

Murfreesboro, TN 37130 

 

RE:  H-22-002 – 444 East College Street 

 

Dear Mr. Chambers: 

 

Please be advised that at its regular meeting held on January 18, 2022, the Historic 

Zoning Commission voted to approve your request to remodel the exterior of an 

existing single-family residence at 444 East College Street.  

 

These changes include: 

1. Remove previously installed second entry door (for duplex) and replace with a 

window in original location. 

2. Remove existing aluminum siding, trim, soffit, gutter fascia and replace with 

white smooth LP Smartside engineered wood siding. 

3. Add a red brick base of building around the house. 

4. Replace gutters with 4” white gutters. 

5. Replace roof with either white metal standing seam roof or black shingle as 

currently exists. 

6. All existing window and door wooden casings are to remain. 

7. Replace all windows with wood windows: 

-applicant must provide product information for administrative 

approval prior to issuance of building permit 

8. Remove metal storm door and front wooden door is to remain. 

9. Replace front columns with square tapered columns with bottom and top 

caps, these will be handmade (the product information in the file is for size 

and style reference only). 

10. Add 2 hanging lighting fixtures and 2 fixtures attached on front porch. 

11.Add concrete cap to existing steps and sidewalk to street sidewalk. 

12. Wooden front porch floor to be pressure washed and stained. 

13.  Repair chimney brick and replace cap. 



 

Please keep a copy of this letter as evidence of the Commission’s action.  If you have 

any questions, please contact me at (615)-893-6441. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Amelia Kerr 

Planner 

  

cc:   Building and Codes Department 

  

sh 

 

 

 

 

 









































MINUTES 
OF THE CITY OF MURFREESBORO 
HISTORIC ZONING COMMISSION 

City Hall, 111 W. Vine Street, Council Chambers 

JANUARY 18, 2022, 3:30 PM 

Members Present:  Staff Present: 
David Becker, Vice-Chair Matthew Blomeley, Assistant Planning Director 
Gib Backlund  Amelia Kerr, Planner 
Deborah Belcher Katie Driver, Staff Attorney  
Chase Salas  Serena Harris, Recording Assistant 
Marimae White    

Absent: 
Jim Thompson, Chairman 
Bill Jakes 
Linda Anderson 
Jeff Davis 

1. Call to order:

Vice-Chair Becker called the meeting to order at 3:30 pm.

2. Determination of a quorum:

Vice-Chair Becker determined that a quorum was present.

3. Consideration of Minutes:

Vice-Chair Becker noted that the minutes show a typo listing Linda Anderson’s name
twice.

With there being no objection by any of the Board members, the minutes of the
December 21, 2021, Historical Zoning Commission meeting was approved as submitted,
apart from the typo.

4. New Business:

a. Zoning application [2022-H-001] requesting to replace the existing slate roof
with architectural shingles of an existing single-family residence at 2255 Middle
Tennessee Boulevard.  (Project Planner: Amelia Kerr):



MURFREESBORO HISTORIC ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 

January 18, 2022 

Page 2 

Amelia Kerr presented the Staff Comments regarding this Item, a copy of which is 
maintained in the permanent files of the Planning Department and is incorporated into 
these Minutes by reference. 

Fletcher Holland, general contractor of PO Box 12391, Murfreesboro, TN 37129 came 
to the podium to address questions from the Commission.  

There being no further discussion, Chase Salas moved to approve the application, 
subject to all staff recommendations; The motion was seconded by Marimae White, 
and upon roll call the motion was approved by the following vote: 

Aye:  Gib Backlund 
Deborah Backlund 
Chase Salas 
Marimae White 
David Becker, Vice-Chair 

Nay:  None 

b. Zoning application [2022-H-002] requesting an exterior remodel of an existing
single-family residence at 444 East College Street.  (Project Planner: Amelia
Kerr):

Amelia Kerr presented the Staff Comments regarding this Item, a copy of which is
maintained in the permanent files of the Planning Department and is incorporated into
these Minutes by reference.

Brad Chambers, applicant of 444 East College St, Murfreesboro, TN 37129 came to
the podium to address questions from the Commission.

The following changes were reviewed:
1. Remove previously installed second entry door (for duplex) and replace with a
window in original location.

2. Remove existing aluminum siding, trim, soffit, gutter fascia and replace with
white smooth LP Smartside engineered wood siding.

3. Add a red brick base of building around the house.

4. Replace gutters with 4” white gutters.

5. Replace roof with either white metal standing seam roof or black shingle as
currently exists.



MURFREESBORO HISTORIC ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 

January 18, 2022 

Page 3 

a. Applicant inquired about installing metal backing on the front of the home
over the porch with the remaining of the home, black shingle.

Gib Backlund expressed the roof should be consistent with the whole
structure having the same type of roof. Mr. Backlund stated that per the
guidelines, the roof should match what was historically present. Mr.
Backlund added that the hybrid shingle application is not likely historic.
Specific colors are not a requirement, as the home was built in 1900 and
the original color is unknown.

Then Mr. Chambers stated he has no issue installing all black shingles.

6. All existing window and door wooden casings are to remain.

7. Replace all windows with wood windows:
a. Amelia Kerr stated applicant will provide product information for

administrative approval prior to issuance of building permit

8. Remove metal storm door and front wooden door is to remain.

9. Replace front columns with square tapered columns with bottom and top caps,
these will be handmade (the product information in the file is for size and style
reference only).

a. Brad Chambers stated he intends to add square columns, 9-12” in width &
depth, with a slightly large cap. Mr. Chambers added that he’d like to add
exterior MDF board and paint them white.

10. Add 2 hanging lighting fixtures and 2 fixtures attached on front porch.

11.Add concrete cap to existing steps and sidewalk to street sidewalk.

12. Wooden front porch floor to be pressure washed and stained.

13. Repair chimney brick and replace cap.

There being no further discussion, Marimae White moved to approve the application, 
subject to all staff recommendations; The motion was seconded by Chase Salas, and 
upon roll call the motion was approved by the following vote: 

Aye:  Gib Backlund 
Deborah Backlund 
Chase Salas 
Marimae White 
David Becker, Vice-Chair 



MURFREESBORO HISTORIC ZONING COMMISSION MINUTES 

January 18, 2022 

Page 4 

Nay:  None 

6. Staff Reports and Other Business:

None

7. Adjourn.

Gib Backlund moved to adjourn the meeting; the motion was seconded by Chase Salas;
there being no further discussion upon roll call, the meeting was adjourned at 3:56 p.m.
by the following vote:

Aye:  Gib Backlund
Deborah Backlund 
Chase Salas 
Marimae White 
David Becker, Vice-Chair 

Nay:  None 

VICE-CHAIR SECRETARY 



City of Murfreesboro 

Historic Zoning Commission 

Staff Comments 

Regular meeting: June 21, 2022 
 

New Business: 

 

a. 22-H-006: 208 North Maney Avenue, Jeffery Neely -Requesting to enclose 

an existing covered patio. 

 

 

 



This property is located on the east side of N. Maney Avenue about midway between E. 

College Street and E. Lytle Street. The house was constructed circa 1945 in the Vernacular 

style of architecture with a gable roof and stone detailing. The house is a non-contributing 

structure of the North Maney Avenue Historic District of the National Register of Historic 

Places.  The property contains approximately 0.26 acres and is zoned RS- 8 (Single-Family 

Residential District 8) and H-1 (Historic Zoning Overlay District). It is also located in the 

CCO (City Core Overlay) district. 

 

The property was originally a single-family home then converted into a three-family 

dwelling in the early 1980's and was rehabilitated into a two-family dwelling unit by the 

applicant in 2015. The changes to the property were discussed and approved at 2 separate 

HZC meetings on October 20, 2015, and Special HZC meeting on October 29, 2015. The 

minutes of these meetings are in your agenda package.   

 

Photographs of adjacent properties on both sides of 208 N. Maney Avenue are included in 

your agenda materials for comparison. The dwelling on the north side of this property, 224 

North Maney Avenue, is not located in the East Main Street Historic District. There is a 

triplex dwelling unit located to the south side of this property on the southeast corner of 

the intersection of North Maney Avenue & East College Street which is also a non-

contributing structure in the East Main Street Historic District of the National Register of 

Historic Places.  

 

The applicants are requesting to convert a covered patio added to the home in 2018 into an 

enclosed addition to the home.  Due to the privacy fence this covered patio addition is only 

partially visible from the right of way and was not approved by the HZC and currently has 

no building permits. The applicant has submitted drawings for the side and rear elevations 

which depicts the proposed addition at the rear of the property. Also included in the agenda 

are photographs of the existing street view conditions. Materials proposed for the side 

elevation will match the existing cementitious siding material and a stone fireplace to 

match the existing fireplaces.  If approved by the Commission, the applicant will be 

required to work with the Building & Codes Department to obtain all necessary permits for 

existing structures that were never permitted as well as any proposed work. 
 

The applicant will be in attendance at the meeting in order to answer any questions the 

Commission may have regarding the request. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 







Existing House- 208 S. Maney 

 
 

 



 
Single family house to the north of property at 212 North Maney

 



Tri-plex to the south of property at East College & Maney 

 
Covered patio to be converted to living space 

 



 
 

 











  

HISTORIC ZONING COMMISSION 

Regular Meeting 

October 20, 2015 
 

 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:     ABSENT: 

Gib Backlund, Chairman     Jim Thompson  

Kirt Wade, Vice-Chair     Debra Belcher 

David Becker        

Marimae White 

Linda Anderson        

Paul Cross 

Rick Cantrell 

 

STAFF PRESENT: 

Robert Lewis, Planner 

David Ives, Assistant City Attorney 

Brenda Davis, Recording Assistant 

 

 

Chairman Backlund called the meeting to order at 3:30 p.m.     

 

Ms. Anderson made a motion to approve the minutes from the August 18, 2015 Historic 

Zoning Commission regular meeting.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Becker and carried 

unanimously in favor. 

 

New Business: 

 

H-15-005 – 208 North Maney Avenue, Jeffery & Tamera Neely – Requesting an extensive 

renovation of the exterior of the house and garage 

 

Mr. Lewis reviewed the application and staff comments contained in the HZC agenda package.  

He passed out samples of the proposed hardiplank and siding. 

 

Mr. and Mrs. Neely were present to answer questions. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked the applicants to come to the podium. 

 

Mr. and Mrs. Neely came to the podium.  Mr. Neely said they are also planning to add an 

additional 2-car garage behind the existing garage. 

 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

2 

Chairman Backlund asked if the new garage would be visible from the street. 

 

Mr. Neely said a small portion of the roofline would be visible from the street. 

 

Ms. Anderson asked how the applicants would get to the new garage. 

 

Mr. Neely said Mr. Bill Jakes is granting them a permanent easement through the driveway of 

the house to the right that faces College Street. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked if the driveway would be from College Street. 

 

Mr. Neely said no, it will come off of Maney Avenue. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked if Mr. Jakes owns the apartment building next door to the subject 

property. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Mr. Becker asked if Mr. Jakes also owns the house next door to the subject property. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes, adding Mr. Jakes also owns the subject house and the apartment building.   

 

Mr. Cross referred to the photograph referencing the south side of the house and asked if the 

drawing represented the photograph.   

 

Mr. Neely said yes, stating the drawing is what it will look like when everything is complete.  

They are planning to bring the back roofline to a shed roof to increase the square footage 

upstairs. 

 

Mr. Cross confirmed the applicants will be adding a level to the house. 

 

Mr. Neely said there is currently an apartment located upstairs.  They are planning to raise the 

back of the roof up to obtain more square footage upstairs.  Mr. Neely said currently there is 

approximately 500 square foot upstairs and by raising the roof, they will gain about 350 more 

square feet. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked if the applicants planned to keep the exterior stairway. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Chairman Backlund said there are a number of questions on the many proposed changes and 

would like to discuss them one at a time.  He said changes the Commission needs to discuss 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

3 

include materials for the roof, siding, windows, front door, and converting the garage into an 

office by removing the garage doors and replacing with windows.  Chairman Backlund said the 

Commission deals with issues that can be seen from the street, adding they do not address paint 

colors. 

 

Ms. Anderson referred to the line drawing which shows the new roof line and fire escape stairs.  

She said it doesn’t show any windows on the ground level any longer. 

 

Mr. Neely said the windows in the back, below the existing stairs are being taken out as that 

room will become the master bedroom downstairs.  He said those windows looked out onto the 

brick triplexes and they did not want that view. 

 

Mr. Cantrell asked the Neely’s if they planned to install central heat and air. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Mr. Cantrell asked if the air conditioner on the south side of the house would go away. 

 

Mr. Neely said he has already removed all the air conditioners.   

 

Chairman Backlund asked if the windows behind the stairway would remain the same size. 

 

Mr. Neely has not decided, but it will be close to the same size. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked about the window wells in the basement. 

 

Mr. Neely said they have to stay. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked what type of material the Neely’s are considering for the windows. 

 

Mr. Neely said they will be vinyl windows, clear on the bottom and two verticals on the top. 

 

Chairman Backlund if the Neelys have looked at any other materials for windows. 

 

Mr. Neely said no. 

 

Mr. Cantrell asked if the current windows are aluminum. 

 

Mr. Neely said some of the windows have been replaced adding there are vinyl windows along 

the front of the house and a couple on the side.  He said they are taking all of the windows out as 

they are not in very good shape. 

 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

4 

Chairman Backlund referred to the proposed hardiplank siding asking if they planned to use the 

wide clapboards or the narrow. 

 

Mr. Neely said they plan to use the 7-inch reveal. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked what was underneath the existing siding. 

 

Mr. Neely said it was aluminum siding and was not covering up any other type of siding.  He 

assumes the aluminum siding was original to the house when built in 1945. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked the size of the current aluminum siding. 

 

Mr. Neely said the current aluminum siding has an 8-inch reveal. 

 

Ms. Anderson referred to the windows again asking if some of the existing windows are wood 

framed.   

 

Mr. Neely said all of the original windows were wood framed but they have been removed and 

replaced with vinyl inserts across the front of the house along with two on the side.  He said 

across the back is original wood windows. 

 

Chairman Backlund said typically in the historic district, the Commission would not approve 

vinyl windows that are visible from the street to maintain the historic nature and character.  He 

said since vinyl windows are being replaced, the Commission cannot ask for wooden windows. 

 

Chairman Backlund verified the applicants intend to add hardiplank dormers to the roofline on 

the front of the house. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Chairman Backlund said the building is a non-contributing structure to the National Register 

however they want to keep the character.  He pointed out the house next door has dormers in the 

front roofline.   

 

Mr. Neely agreed. 

 

Chairman Backlund said the bigger change is the front door as the columns would be a dramatic 

change from what is existing.   

 

Mr. Neely said the columns were taken off a picture of Tim and Mary White’s house in 

Georgetown.  He said if you look at the top of them, they are quite ornate and they will not being 

doing that.  He said the columns will be straight up columns to the top. 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

5 

Ms. Anderson asked if the columns would be wooden. 

 

Mr. Neely said the columns would be fiberglass. 

 

Ms. Anderson said she has a real concern about the columns.  She said the home is a vernacular 

style and columns don’t fit into that kind of house.   Ms. Anderson also had concern about the 

front door and column area stating the peak above the door has a different angle being 

introduced.  She asked if there was a reason for that peak. 

 

Mr. Neely said he could match the same peak as the existing gable, if necessary.  He said they 

are just trying to have a little protection in inclement weather at the front door and keep the peak 

from going way up.  He said he thinks the existing gable is a 12-pitch and is a rather steep pitch.   

 

Mr. Cross said the proposed drawing looks to have a steeper pitch than the existing pitch.   

 

Mr. Neely thinks it is vise-versa and said if you at the shallower pitch on the drawing is the new 

and the peak behind it is existing. 

 

Mr. Lewis asked if the columns would be smaller than what is being shown on the sample 

picture. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes adding the sample picture is a much larger house.  He said the proposed 

columns would be 8-10 inches diameter. 

 

Mr. Cross asked if Mr. Neely intends to leave the existing roof over the door and apply this other 

porch to that. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Ms. Anderson said she thinks the two angles should be the same. 

 

Mr. Cross said he does not think the pitch that is drawn on the plan actually matches what is 

proposed.  He said it is a sketch and not a measured drawing. 

 

Mr. Lewis referred to the photo of the house, pointing out the front and large gabled roof for the 

porch and goes almost to the windows.  Mr. Lewis asked if the windows Mr. Neely is installing 

in the front would be smaller in width.   

 

Mr. Neely said the windows are going to be single and lowered so they are almost on the floor 

inside the house.  He said it will give them room to do the canvas above the windows.  Mr. Neely 

said the current windows are almost to the gutter line and that would not give them enough room 

to do the canvas above the windows. 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

6 

Ms. Anderson said the line drawing does not show handrails. 

 

Mr. Neely said the handrails are there but they will have to be shortened. 

 

Mr. Cantrell verified the stone will be staying on the front of the house. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Mr. Cantrell asked if he planned to pull the front porch out about 4-feet. 

 

Mr. Neely said just the roofline will be pulled out with the columns.  There will be an 18-inch, 2 

foot overhang. 

 

Mr. Cross asked the size of the windows shown in the sketch. 

 

Mr. Neely said the windows will be three O windows. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked if the windows will be solid glass or have muttons in them. 

 

Ms. Neely passed out a picture of the proposed windows. 

 

Mr. Cross verified the new windows would be narrower than the original. 

 

Mr. Neely agreed the two windows on each side of the front door will be narrower. 

 

Ms. Neely said the only way to put the canopies above the windows was to decrease the width of 

the windows and lower them.   She said they were trying to give it a little more style and be a 

little more consistent of what it might have originally looked like in the front.   

 

Ms. Anderson referred to the window to the far left, when you are facing the front door asking if 

it would be a different shape. 

 

Mr. Neely said no, it will be replaced with a new window but will be the same shape.   

 

Mr. Cantrell held up a picture and asked Ms. Neely if it would be the style of windows on each 

side of the front door. 

 

Ms. Neely said they are proposed those windows to be casement windows.  She referred to the 

sample picture of Mary White’s house stating there are canopies on the top of their casement 

windows. 

 

Mr. Cantrell asked what this window picture represented. 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

7 

 

Ms. Neely said that is an example of all the other windows that will be used throughout the rest 

of the house. 

 

Mr. Cantrell agreed with Ms. Anderson’s concern about the pitch of the roof area at the front 

door. 

 

Mr. Neely asked if the Commission wants the pitch of the roof to match the existing pitch of 

what is there. 

 

Mr. Cantrell agreed. 

 

Mr. Neely said that would be an easy fix. 

 

Ms. Neely said it is a narrow front porch and adding the columns makes it a steep pitch to match 

and make it look consistent.     

 

Mr. Cantrell asked if it would look any squattier to do what he asked. 

 

Mr. Neely did not think it would look any worse than it does now. 

 

Ms. Anderson suggested the columns be small since the front of the house is small.   

 

Mr. Neely said he was planning to go with 8-inch columns in diameter. 

 

Mr. Cantrell agreed with Ms. Anderson asking the columns to be as small as possible.  He said 

the columns will taper even smaller toward the top. 

 

Mr. Cross expressed concern about the application in its present form of presentation.  He said 

looking at the front of the house next door, everything balances as it should in that style of 

architecture.   He said that is the feeling of East Main Street.  He said we are looking at a 

wholesale change in the front of the applicant’s house.  Mr. Cross said he would like to see a 

measured drawing so that all of the dimensions are exact.  He said he doesn’t feel comfortable 

making a decision on it one way or the other with the drawings that have been presented today.   

 

Chairman Backlund understands what Mr. Cross is saying.  He said some of the Commission 

members are seeing this as a major, dramatic change from an architectural style that is described 

in the narrative.  He said the window, siding, and roofline style is all changing.  He said in order 

to maintain the historic character of the street and neighborhood the applicants might want to 

think about retaining some of those elements even though it borrows historic elements from other 

houses.   He said they might want to retain the window grids or think about a porch that has a cap 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

8 

over it similar to what the neighboring house has as opposed to a completely new style house on 

Main Street.   

 

Mr. Cross feels like the drawing submitted is not giving their idea a fair chance.  He said if this is 

actually what it is going to look like, he has a problem with it.  As he looks at the drawing and 

photograph, he feels if it were a measured drawing of what is there and what is proposed at a 

scale the Commission can see, it might be a different circumstance.   

 

Mr. Cantrell said the applicant appeared to make the drawing reflect the scale of the photo so you 

could see it in relation to what is there.   

 

Chairman Backlund asked the applicants if they could provide a better scaled drawing. 

 

Mr. Neely said he could have an architect draw it adding he was just trying to prevent spending 

$1500 or $2000.   

 

Ms. Anderson expressed concern about the windows.  She asked what type of windows would be 

installed in the new office area that was the garage.   

 

Ms. Neely said yes, that same type window would be installed throughout the house.  She said 

she had no problem with the existing grid pattern on the windows.   

 

Mr. Neely said they drove through the historic district looking at windows and found there to be 

just about any style you could think of.  He said they prefer clear at the bottom and verticals at 

the top.   

 

Ms. Anderson expressed reservations about the new windows and the canopies that are being 

applied to the front of the house.  She said that is a total different style from anything else about 

that house. 

 

Chairman Backlund suggested the applicant may not need to have an architect do the drawing 

but could …..  He said window sample and other materials are also needed.   

 

Mr. Neely said if it is a question of a wooden column versus a fiberglass column, he could order 

wood.  He was looking at no maintenance down the road. 

 

Mr. Cross said this is a wholesale, 100% change.  The only thing about this existing house that is 

going to remain is the stone face.  He said if this house burned, would the Commission approve a 

house designed with these proposed changes to replace it.  Mr. Cross said the Commission has 

the authority to ask for a detailed drawing.  He said considering the extent of the modification to 

the house and consideration of the house right beside it, the Commission needs to see a detailed 

drawing. 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

9 

Mr. Neely referred to the house next door to the subject property and the only thing original to 

that house is the stone as the white siding to the left and right of the stone have been added on.   

 

Mr. Becker said he does not see anything appealing about the house as it is today.  He also 

pointed out this is a non-contributing house located in the historic district.  Mr. Becker said he 

does not have a problem with what the applicants want to do with the awning windows and 

dormer windows being different.  He said if the Commission can get the measurements, it might 

give them a better feel for the house as they are presenting the way they want it to be.  Mr. 

Becker said even if it is a little bit off, he sees the presentation of what the house would look like 

much better than what it looks like at this particular point. 

 

Ms. Anderson said she likes the house in its current state. 

 

Chairman Backlund said it is not a question of the Commission member’s preference but the 

house is located in the historic district and they need to retain that character.  He said being in a 

historic district generally increases the property value nationwide.  He said this house is 

characteristic of the time in 1942 but does not know why it is a non-contributing house. 

 

Mr. Lewis said it is not a non-contributing house because it was not 50 years old when the 

historic district was approved. 

 

Ms. Anderson said the Commission has learned from their mistakes.  Sometimes they have been 

a little too casual in approving proposed sketches and they didn’t turn out the way they thought. 

 

Mr. Backlund said the Commission is willing to sit down with the Neely’s as they formulate 

their ideas outside of this formal meeting.   

 

Mr. Neely informed the Commission they are scheduled to close on this property November 2nd, 

so time is of the essence.  He said he does not have a problem supplying another drawing of the 

front elevation. 

 

Chairman Backlund said a “special meeting” could be scheduled. 

 

Mr. Neely asked if the front elevation and window style were the only concerns.   

 

Chairman Backlund and Mr. Cross agreed more details are needed on the windows, awnings, 

door, columns, and elevation on the front.  Mr. Cross said approving it today would be like 

blessing a sketch.   

 

Mr. Cantrell asked if the shutters around the dormer windows were shown on the submitted 

sketch. 

 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

10 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Mr. Cantrell asked why shutters were not portrayed on the new windows. 

 

Mr. Neely said there is not enough room for shutters on either side of those windows. 

 

Ms. Anderson said since the house has several angles they might want to consider another type 

of awning that is not as plump above the windows.   

 

Mr. Becker said the only reason the Commission will approve vinyl windows at this location is 

because the vinyl windows are replacing existing vinyl windows. 

 

Mr. Cross asked if the windows in the foundation would be removed. 

 

Mr. Neely said no as the house has a full basement and egress windows are required. 

 

Chairman Becklund said there has been a lot of discussion and more needs to take place.  He 

asked for a motion to defer the application.   

 

Mr. Ives said a special meeting can be scheduled.  He said there just needs to be enough time for 

Mr. Lewis to advertise the meeting and survey the Commission members for a quorum.   

 

Mr. Becker said Fibrex is another type of material that is acceptable for the windows instead of 

vinyl. 

 

Mr. Neely asked who the supplier was for Fibrex. 

 

Mr. Becker said Anderson Renewal. 

 

Mr. Neely asked if building permits could be pulled for the additions in the back part of the 

property and the garage that is being converted to an office while waiting on the Historic Zoning 

Commission to approve the front. 

 

Mr. Lewis asked the Commission if there was any problem with the proposed garage conversion 

plans.   

 

The Commission members said no. 

 

Mr. Lewis said if the Commission is ok with the materials and what Mr. Neely is proposing so he 

can get a permit for that.   

 

Chairman Backlund pointed out the windows in the garage need to be consistent with the house. 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

11 

Mr. Cantrell made a motion to approve the garage, change of the rear roofline, and the two 

dormers on the front. 

 

Mr. Ives verified that Mr. Cantrell’s motion included the new garage and the remodel of the 

existing garage. 

 

Mr. Cantrell said yes. 

 

Mr. Cantrell continued with the motion stating the Neely’s need to submit a revised 

drawing for the remaining front elevation including 1) the area around the door; 2) the 

windows and 3) the columns. 

 

Mr. Neely verified that Ms. Anderson would like wood columns. 

 

Mr. Cross said there are some composite products that work like wood and not subject to rot that 

would be acceptable in the historic district instead of wood.  

 

Chairman Backlund asked if a motion is necessary at this point. 

 

Mr. Ives said yes, in order for the applicants to obtain a building permit. 

 

Mr. Neely said he could delay the portion of the renovation in question if he could get approval 

to start some of the remodel. 

 

Mr. Cantrell commented with the winter months coming along, it is important for Mr. Neely to 

get some portions completed like the roof. 

 

The motion was seconded by Mr. Cross. 

 

Chairman Backlund reviewed the motion by stating: 

The motion is to approve the 1) renovation of the roofline, 2) addition of a new garage, 3) 

modification of the existing garage and 4) add the dormers to the roof of the house.  The 

Commission needs to see more detail on the façade of the garage including the windows, the 

house including the windows, columns and door.   

 

Mr. Cross verified the Commission is approving new dormers on the front of the house, based on 

what. 

 

Mr. Cantrell said as depicted. 

 

Chairman Backlund agreed the Commission hasn’t approved the size or the windows. 

 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

12 

Mr. Cross said the dormers are a key to what the front elevation will look like, adding he is not 

opposed to the dormers.  He said there are not dormers there now and wants to look at the 

dormers in relation to other front elevation reviews. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked Mr. Cross if he would like to modify the motion. 

 

Mr. Cross asked Mr. Lewis if he understands what the Commission is looking for. 

 

Mr. Lewis asked the size of the windows for the dormers. 

 

Mr. Neely said he has not determined the size of the dormer windows.  He wants to get it wide 

enough to put shutters on both sides of the windows. 

 

Mr. Lewis asked if the dormers and the windows below will be the same width. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Chairman Backlund said the motion needs to be amended. 

 

Mr. Cantrell agreed to withdraw his motion. 

 

Mr. Ives said the motion could be done a little less formal than Mr. Cantrell withdrawing his 

original motion. 

 

Mr. Ives said if everyone is in agreement to amend the motion to remove the dormers off the 

front façade, they can proceed.   

 

Chairman Backlund said the amended motion is: 

To change the appearance of the roofline on the rear of the house, add the new garage, 

begin modifying the old garage and bring the Commission new information regarding 

windows on the garage, windows on the front of the house, the dormers, the door, and the 

columns.   

 

Mr. Neely asked the schedule for the next meeting. 

 

Chairman Backlund said Mr. Neely will not have to wait for a regular scheduled monthly 

meeting as a special meeting can be called.  He told Mr. Neely to submit the requested 

information to Mr. Lewis as soon as possible to get things moving.   

 

Ms. Anderson said the next regular scheduled Historic Zoning Commission meeting is 

November 16th. 

 



HZC Minutes 

October 20, 2015 

 

 

 

 

13 

Mr. Neely said the November 16th meeting might work anyway but he will try to get the 

information to Mr. Lewis before then. 

 

Ms. Neely said they will be out of town the week of November 16th. 

 

The amended motion was seconded by Mr. Cross and carried unanimously in favor. 

 

Staff Reports and Other Business 

 

Mr. Lewis asked for a vote on the proposed 2016 Historic Zoning Commission calendar with 

meeting dates and deadlines. 

 

Mr. Ives pointed out the March dates need to change to March 1st for the submittal date and 

March 15th for the meeting. 

 

Mr. Cantrell made a motion to approve the 2016 Historic Zoning Commission calendar 

with the change for the submittal date be March 1st and meeting date March 15th.  The 

motion was seconded by Ms. Anderson and carried unanimously in favor. 

 

The meeting adjourned at 4:35 P.M. 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________________       ____________________________________ 

CHAIRMAN               SECRETARY 



  

HISTORIC ZONING COMMISSION 

Special Meeting 

October 29, 2015 
 

 

 

MEMBERS PRESENT:     ABSENT: 

Gib Backlund, Chairman     Marimae White  

Kirt Wade, Vice-Chair     Rick Cantrell 

David Becker       Paul Cross 

Jim Thompson 

Linda Anderson        

Debra Belcher 

 

 

STAFF PRESENT: 

Joe Ornelas, Planner 

David Ives, Assistant City Attorney 

Brenda Davis, Recording Assistant 

 

 

Chairman Backlund called the meeting to order at 3:30 p.m.     

 

Old Business: 

 

H-15-005 – 208 North Maney Avenue, Jeffery & Tamera Neely – Requesting an extensive 

renovation of the exterior of the house and garage 

 

Mr. Joe Ornelas, City Planner was present for Mr. Lewis.  He reviewed the application and staff 

comments contained in the HZC agenda package. 

 

Mr. and Mrs. Neely were present to answer questions. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked the applicants to come to the podium. 

 

Jeff and Tamera Neely came to the podium regarding the property located at 208 North Maney 

Avenue. 

 

Chairman Backlund stated the Historic Zoning Commission reviewed this application on 

October 20, 2015.  He said several changes recommended by the Commission have been made 

including a drawing of the house to scale.  Chairman Backlund said there are additional members 

at this meeting to share comments and ideas. 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

2 

Mr. Thompson suggested reviewing each item individually and make motions on each.  Mr. 

Thompson asked Mr. Ives if the house would be eligible for the National Register since it was 

built in 1945 and is over 50 years old.  He said if the house were evaluated today, it would be 

listed as a contributing structure. 

 

Mr. Ives said since an evaluation has not taken place, it is still considered a non-contributing 

structure. 

 

Chairman Backlund suggested looking at each of the requests, one at a time. 

 

Item #1:  Remove all existing aluminum siding and replace with hardi-board siding. 

 

Mr. Thompson said he does not have any concerns about the existing aluminum siding being 

replaced with hardi-board.  He asked if the applicants were planning to leave the decorative 

wood trim above the front door and just replace where the aluminum siding is located. 

 

Mr. Neely said he plans to replace the decorative wood trim with hardi-board and mirrortech 

cornerboard siding that will look like wood siding. 

 

Mr. Thompson recommended the applicants keep the decorative wood trim on the gable ends 

and bottom of the triangle on the house.   

 

Mr. Neely said again, it will be a mirrortech product combined with the hardi-board and will 

replicate what is there. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked if it will have steps and curves in it like it does currently or will it be a flat 

board. 

 

Mr. Neely said it will be a flat board. 

 

Mr. Thompson said a flat board will change the look. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes, he plans to put that portion back.  He said it will be made over a material and 

applied back to the mirrortech board. 

 

Mr. Thompson pointed out the area in question. 

 

Mr. Ives requested the picture of the house be shown on the screen. 

 

Mr. Thompson said the case and trim around the windows will look like flat boards.  He said the 

portion above the door is the only piece of decorative trim on the house and to replace it is to 

lose it. 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

3 

Mr. Neely said the decorative trim is also located on the north and south side but not visible in 

the picture. 

 

Mr. Thompson said he would hate to lose the decorative pieces.  

 

Mr. Neely said he plans to put something similar back.   

 

Mr. Thompson said he does not have a problem with hardi-board as long as Mr. Neely replicates 

the board decorative pieces.   

 

Chairman Backlund referred the Commission to a sample of the hardi-board. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked the surface texture of the aluminum siding on the house. 

 

Mr. Neely said smooth. 

 

Mr. Thompson recommended the applicants use a smooth hardi-board finish.   

 

Chairman Backlund asked if there were any other styles of hardi-board considered.   

 

Mr. Neely said no, they preferred the smooth finish.   

 

Mr. Becker made a motion to approve the aluminum siding be replaced by hardi-board.   

 

Ms. Anderson asked if the motion would include the stipulation that the trim be replicated to 

match the existing trim and the surface of the hardi-board be smooth. 

 

Mr. Becker amended the motion to include: 

1) The trim be replicated to match the existing trim. 

2) The surface of the hardi-board be smooth.   

The motion was seconded by Mr. Wade and carried unanimously in favor. 

 

Item #2:  Replacing all windows on the front of the house, removing the proposed awnings 

over the two windows on either side of the front door. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked why the windows were being replaced.   

 

Mr. Neely said the windows were rotten.   

 

Mr. Thompson asked if the windows were wood. 

 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

4 

Mr. Neely said the smaller kitchen windows in the front of the house are wooden.  He said the 

windows on the side of the front door have been replaced with vinyl inserts and have the original 

wood casing around the sash pack.     

 

Mr. Thompson asked what product will be used to replace the existing wood kitchen windows.    

 

Mr. Neely said vinyl. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked if that would include vinyl sash and frame. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked if the applicant plans to replace the sash and frame on the existing vinyl 

windows.   

 

Mr. Neely said all the existing windows will be replaced except the basement windows.   

 

Mr. Thompson said the Commission is only interested in windows that can be seen from the 

right-of-way.  He asked if the applicants want to lower the windows on each side of the front 

door for esthetic purposes.   

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Mr. Thompson said typically the windows in older houses are usually taller than the doors.   

 

Mr. Neely did not like the windows being taller than the door. 

 

Mr. Thompson said the Commission usually does not allow vinyl windows.   

 

Ms. Anderson said the Commission had trouble with windows being replaced in a house on the 

400 block of East College about a year ago.  She said the Commission stopped the renovation so 

wood windows would be installed to replace wood windows that were previously at that 

location.  She said the Commission can only give their opinion on what can be seen from the 

right-of-way.  She added the Commission needs to be careful about approving vinyl windows 

since they have not allowed others to replace wood with vinyl.   

 

Mr. Becker reminded the Commission members the window issue came up at the meeting on 

October 20th.  He did not want the applicants coming back, knowing they wanted vinyl 

replacements and not having it approved by vote but by consensus.  Mr. Becker said because the 

windows are currently vinyl, the Commission should give approval for the applicants to install 

vinyl replacement windows.   

 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

5 

Mr. Wade agreed with Mr. Becker there is no reason to require them to go back to wood since 

the house already has vinyl windows.   

 

Mr. Thompson said he understands the windows in the kitchen are wood and the front two 

windows on each side of the front door are vinyl.  He asked what type of windows were in the 

rest of the house. 

 

Mr. Neely said the entire basement is vinyl, windows on the right side lower floor are vinyl, and 

there is a wooden casement window above the steps on the south side. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked what percentage of the house currently has vinyl windows. 

 

Mr. Neely said the front part of the house is 80% vinyl windows and about 60%-65% for the 

whole house.   

 

Chairman Backlund referred to the conversation in the October 20th meeting stating the 

Commission did not realize it was just the sashes that were vinyl.   

 

Ms. Anderson agreed the Commission was not aware. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked the applicants if they have considered any other type of window. 

 

Mr. Neely said he researched the type of window Mr. Becker installed in his home and said the 

manufacturer would not give him a price over the phone.   

 

Mr. Wade said the Commission talked about the windows at the October 20th meeting and said 

the house is already 60%-80% vinyl. 

 

Mr. Wade made a motion to approve the vinyl windows.   

 

Mr. Thompson asked about the issue of dropping the front pairs of windows at 5 ¼”.  He said he 

would not do it. 

 

Mr. Wade asked the other Commission member’s opinions. 

 

Mr. Ives suggested a separate discussion on dropping the windows.   

 

The motion was seconded by Ms. Belcher.   

 

Mr. Thompson asked if the applicant’s request was for all the windows or just the front windows. 

 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

6 

Mr. Neely said he is replacing all the windows on the house except the basement windows which 

are currently vinyl. 

 

Chairman Backlund said the Historic Zoning Commission looks at what is visible from the right-

of-way so the back of the house would not be visible.  He said the Commission would be mostly 

concerned with the front and sides.  Chairman Backlund said the replacement windows would 

have the same sort of look that the existing windows have.  Chairman Backlund asked for a vote. 

 

The motion carried unanimously in favor. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked to discuss the issue of lowering the front pairs of windows 5 ¼” to align 

with the front door.  Mr. Thompson added he does not agree with them being lowered. 

 

Ms. Anderson said windows are always taller than the front door in houses of this age. 

 

Mr. Thompson agreed. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked the applicants why they decided to lower the windows. 

 

Mr. Neely said there was a discussion regarding this matter in the October 20th meeting and Mr. 

Becker mentioned the current windows were even with the door header height.  Mr. Neely went 

back and measured to find the windows were 5 ¼” higher than the door header. 

 

Chairman Backlund said he may have mentioned it as well stating as he looks at the photograph 

it appears the windows are lower and realizes they are not.  He said looking at the front elevation 

of the house, the front looks flat but the stonework actually sticks out 3’ – 4’.  Chairman 

Backlund said the house has a much different look in person than in the photograph.  He said 

looking at the photograph, it appears the door is the same height as the windows.  He does not 

think it detracts from the appearance of the house as the change may or may not add to the 

aesthetics.   

 

Mr. Neely said there is very little trim above the windows.  He was trying to move them down a 

little to get them away from the gutter board.   

 

Mr. Thompson said since the windows are being changed to vinyl throughout the house, the 

window openings should remain the same size. 

 

Mr. Neely said the window openings will remain the same size adding he is just requesting to 

lower the windows. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked if the applicant will be dropping the seal 5 ¼”. 

 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

7 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Mr. Thompson said he feels the window placement should not change and the window openings 

should stay the same because of the elevation.   

 

Chairman Backlund said when this was brought up on October 20th there was a little discussion 

on historic characteristics of properties.  He said for properties on the National Register or 

Districts you want to retain a feeling, association, and architecture of its time by not changing the 

nature or character.   Chairman Backlund verified the house next door to this property was built 

by the same builder. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes, the house next door was built in 1923 by the same builder.  There was a 20-

year separation between the two houses being built. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked if there were any other houses in the neighborhood built by the same 

builder. 

 

Mr. Neely said no. 

 

Mr. Wade said he is ok with approving or not approving the windows being lowered. 

 

Ms. Anderson made a motion to approve moving the windows on each side of the front 

door down 6 inches.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Becker. 

 

Mr. Becker said the rock on the front of the house extends out and would camouflage the lower 

windows.   

 

Ms. Belcher asked if the tops of all the other windows on the house were at the same location as 

the windows in question.   

 

Mr. Neely said yes.  He said the height difference does not show up on the end gables because 

the windows are located on a flat panel wall.     

 

Mr. Thompson suggested looking at the elevations that could be seen from the right-of-way.   

 

Chairman Backlund asked if a windows would be removed on the end of the house. 

 

Mr. Neely said the right rear window would be removed because that area will become their 

master bedroom.   

 

Ms. Belcher verified there would not be any window there. 

 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

8 

Mr. Neely agreed. 

 

Chairman Backlund verified they were talking about the same window by pointing it out on a 

photograph. 

 

Mr. Neely agreed adding the other windows would stay the same. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked if that would cover the bay windows by the stairs. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Mr. Thompson verified all the existing windows would be dropped 5 ¼”. 

 

Mr. Neely said the other windows on the side of the house would stay the same. 

 

Chairman Backlund was under the impression all the existing windows on the house would be 

dropped. 

 

Mr. Neely said no, the windows on the end will remain at the same location and one will be 

removed completely for the master bedroom.   

 

Mr. Thompson verified the windows located on each side of the front door are the only windows 

that would be dropped 5 ¼”. 

 

Mr. Neely said the kitchen windows on the front of the house would also be dropped. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked if the windows on the front of the house were the only windows that would 

be dropped. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Ms. Belcher suggested dropping all the windows to be consistent.   

 

Mr. Neely said all the new windows would be lowered. 

 

Chairman Backlund was confused and asked if all the windows would be lowered or just the 

front. 

 

Ms. Belcher reminded the Commission they do not have purview for windows that can’t be seen 

from the right-of-way.   

 

Mr. Thompson said both sides of the house can be seen from the right-of-way. 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

9 

Chairman Backlund verified the existing double-sashed windows on the right side will be 

removed and replaced with a wall, the two smaller windows on the side by the fireplace are 

staying exactly where they are.   

 

Mr. Neely said the two windows on the side of the fireplace can stay where they are or they can 

be lowered, depending on what the Commission prefers. 

 

Mr. Neely said the only reason for wanting to lower the windows is to get a little more room 

between the bottom of the gutters and the top of the windows. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked if there was an advantage to having room between the gutters and 

windows. 

 

Mr. Neely said aesthetics as he thinks it looks better. 

 

Chairman Backlund wanted to make sure there wasn’t a structural or rotting issue for the reason 

to move the windows down. 

 

Mr. Becker said he agrees with Mr. Wade stating he is ok with approving or not approving the 

windows being lowered. 

 

The motion passed with a vote of five (5) in favor and one (1) against. 

 

Item #3:  Adding columns and a portico to the front entrance. 

 

Mr. Neely said they are trying to make some kind of shelter at the front door to avoid standing 

out in inclement weather.   

 

Mr. Thompson asked the applicant to describe the proposed construction. 

 

Mr. Neely said the roofline will extend out 3-feet over the front of the porch supported by the 

columns and will be open in the center.  He brought a sample picture of a house in the 

Georgetown subdivision.   

 

Chairman Backlund showed a picture of the Georgetown house. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked if the applicant planned to duplicate the Georgetown house entrance 

exactly. 

 

Mr. Neely said no.  He said the columns on the Georgetown house is fancier than what he plans 

to use.  Mr. Neely showed a picture of the proposed columns. 

 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

10 

Mr. Thompson asked what the columns were made of. 

 

Mr. Neely said fiberglass. 

 

Ms. Anderson suggested other materials be looked at for the columns as fiberglass has a 

tendency to crack.  She also had a problem with the style of columns on this style house.  The 

proposed columns make the house feel more formal than the style of the house. 

 

Ms. Belcher said the subject house has a Vernacular style which means it is a local style and 

adding the columns would make it have a Classical / Georgian / Colonial style.  She said the flat 

front is indicative of its time-period and columns would change the original intent of how the 

house was created.   

 

Ms. Neely asked if there were any suggestions the Commission would accept over the front door 

so people can stay out of inclement weather. 

 

Mr. Thompson said architecturally, it should be left alone but understands the applicant’s 

problem. 

 

Chairman Backlund said they are trying to retain the historic character of the historic district.  He 

said when you alter a building dramatically, it takes away that historic character.  Chairman 

Backlund said they have approved canopies over front doors in the historic district as it is a 

feature that can easily be removed.   

 

Mr. Thompson said a canvas awning would be a less dramatic change because it is not 

something that permanently changes and he would be willing to accept that change. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked if the canvas over the door would be an option for the Neely’s. 

 

Ms. Neely said yes and said there are several types of canvas covers available.  She asked if they 

should resubmit when they get to the point of adding the canvas. 

 

Ms. Anderson recommended a shed-style canopy. 

 

The other Commission members agreed a shed-style canopy would be appropriate and 

recommended the Neely’s submit the canopy when they got closer to installation. 

 

Mr. Ives said the Commission is denying the request for columns and portico and inviting the 

Neely’s to resubmit the awning over the door in the future. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked if the Commission needs to vote against the columns and portico. 

Mr. Ives said yes. 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

11 

 

Mr. Thompson made a motion to deny the request for columns and portico to the front 

entrance.  The motion was seconded by Ms. Belcher.   

 

Ms. Neely asked if they needed to resubmit for the canopy. 

 

Mr. Thompson asked the Neely’s to resubmit so the Commission could review fabric samples, 

color, etc. 

 

The motion was approved unanimously to deny. 

 

Ms. Neely verified when she resubmits some kind of canopy, the Commission will approve some 

type of canopy.  She said their contract is contingent upon the Commission approving this or as 

of Monday, November 2nd they do not have to close on the house.  She doesn’t want to come 

back and the Commission saying nothing can go up.   

 

Chairman Backlund asked if a motion were needed. 

 

Mr. Ives said yes, the Commission could approve a canopy with the details to be supplied. 

 

Mr. Thompson made a motion to approve a shed-type canopy over the front door with a 

drawing to follow for final approval at the appropriate time with fabric samples, 

dimensions, and a revised drawing to indicate the canopy.  The motion was seconded by 

Ms. Belcher and carried unanimously in favor. 

 

Item #4:  Add two (2) dormers to the roof at the front of the house and shutters. 

 

Ms. Anderson asked if the dormers were being added because the applicants were planning to 

finish the attic. 

 

Mr. Neely said there is currently 500-square feet finished and they are planning to add another 

300-square feet by raising the back roofline.  They want to get some light into the area from the 

front. 

 

Mr. Thompson verified in addition to dormers, the applicants are asking to kick out the back half 

of the gable roof to add another full story.   

 

Mr. Neely said raising the back roofline was approved at the October 20th meeting.   

 

Ms. Neely said the Commission wanted the exact measurements of the requested dormers and 

verified they were consistent. 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

12 

Mr. Becker made a motion to approve two (2) dormers to the roof at the front of the house 

as submitted.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Wade. 

 

Mr. Thompson verified shutters are requested on the dormers and other locations throughout the 

house.     

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Mr. Thompson suggested making the shutters and dormers two separate items. 

 

Ms. Belcher said by adding the shutters, it will make the house look more like the Colonial style 

rather than the 1945 interruption.   

 

Ms. Anderson said shutters would cut down more on the visual because of the house size.   

 

Mr. Thompson suggested voting on the dormers and coming back to the shutters because there 

are other issues related to it he would like to discuss. 

 

Chairman Backlund said the motion was to vote on the dormers, as drawn with the shutters.   

 

Mr. Thompson said maybe they need to go ahead and discuss the shutters.  He said he would not 

approve the shutters.  Mr. Thompson said the kitchen shutters and the three proposed windows 

where the garage door is located would not meet if they were closed.   

 

Mr. Neely said the house across the street from this location also has shutters and would not meet 

if closed.   

 

Mr. Thompson said whatever they did wrong, he would not promote.  He said adding shutters 

that don’t meet is always a mistake and does not recommend shutters on this house.  He asked to 

amend the motion to do the dormers without the shutters and then add the shutters.     

 

Chairman Backlund asked Mr. Ives for direction. 

 

Mr. Ives said Mr. Thompson has amended to approve the regular motion to approve the dormers 

without the shutters.  The original motion was made “as submitted” which includes shutters, so 

he is asking for an amendment. 

 

Mr. Becker amended the original motion to approve two (2) dormers on the roof at the 

front of the house as submitted, without the shutters.  The motion was seconded by Mr. 

Wade and approved with a 5 (five) in favor and 1 (one) against. 

 

Consider shutters on the whole front of the house. 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

13 

 

Mr. Thompson verified the other shutters that are requested would be located by the new 

windows where the garage door is located and the kitchen windows. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Ms. Belcher made a motion to not install shutters requested by the garage door windows 

and kitchen windows and add trim instead.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Thompson. 

 

Mr. Becker said the house looks off-balance with three windows having shutters and two 

without.   

 

Ms. Anderson added that shutters were pieces of board that could be shut for bad weather so they 

should always be in proportion to the size of the window.        

 

The motion was approved unanimously. 

 

#5:  Replace the existing roof shingle with architectural shingles. 

 

Mr. Becker made a motion to approve the architectural shingles.  The motion was seconded 

by Mr. Thompson and carried unanimously in favor. 

 

#6:  Closing in the existing garage for an office. 

 

The interior of the house is not an issue for the Historic Zoning Commission. 

 

#7:  Replacing the garage door with (3) three windows. 

 

Chairman Backlund verified these windows would match the other windows on the house and be 

three sashes. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes. 

 

Mr. Thompson said, from an architectural perspective, he thinks the opening of the garage door 

for the vehicle to go in is an important feature of the house as it was originally designed.  He 

recommended the applicants install in the same opening of the garage door, patio doors or 

French doors that would fill in the opening and honor the original vehicle door entrance.  Mr. 

Thompson also recommended the breezeway be filled in with glass doors. 

 

Mr. Neely said he would not install glass doors at the garage door opening as that area will 

become an office and that would change the whole flow of how it can be set up on the inside.  He 

said the glass door recommendation will not work for their purposes. 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

14 

Chairman Backlund ask the size of the garage. 

 

Mr. Neely said the garage is 11-feet wide and 20-feet deep.  The garage will have a wall in 

between as there will be a utility room on the backside. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked if the front room would be the office. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes, it will be 11-feet wide and 13-feet deep. 

 

Chairman Backlund asked if access would be from the inside. 

 

Mr. Neely said yes.   

 

Ms. Belcher asked if it were a security issue. 

 

Ms. Neely said yes.   

 

Chairman Backlund asked if there would be any other style of garage door they might consider. 

 

Mr. Thompson said a garage door would keep the aesthetic that it was a vehicle door. 

 

Ms. Neely asked if the Commission’s concern was that a garage door could be able to be put 

back in that place if necessary. 

 

Mr. Neely added the floor in the garage would be raised to match floor in the house so that area 

will never be a garage again. 

 

Mr. Backlund was not concerned about the area being converted back into a garage but it retain 

the historic appearance of a single-family house with a single-car garage which is in the 

Vernacular style. 

 

Ms. Neely said the windows were approved at the October 20th meeting but needed to get 

approval on whether they were vinyl or not. 

 

Mr. Thompson excused himself from the meeting for another appointment.  There was still a 

quorum to continue the meeting. 

 

Ms. Belcher said the window approval was given on October 20th so the Commission should 

move forward. 

 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

15 

Ms. Neely said at the end of the October 20th meeting, they ask for a list of items that needed to 

be addressed at this meeting.  The only discussion regarding the windows was whether or not 

they could be vinyl or not.   

 

Ms. Belcher asked what they planned to do with the driveway. 

 

Mr. Neely said the driveway will be used for company to park in. 

 

Ms. Belcher said, based on the list of items for today’s meeting, item #10 is the only one 

remaining to discuss. 

 

Item #8:  Adding three (3) windows to the left side of the garage. 

 

Not an issue as it cannot be seen from the right-of-way. 

 

Item #9:  Adding an attached garage behind the existing garage, not visible from street. 

 

Not an issue as it cannot be seen from the right-of-way.   

 

Item #10:  Closing in the breezeway and roof and remodeling it into a dining room and 

bath. 

 

Ms. Belcher agreed with Mr. Thompson’s suggestion of installing a glass door at the breezeway 

to give determination to the opening and might be a benefit to the interior of the house. 

 

Ms. Neely said it had initially been a door but that is going to be a dining room now and 

landscaping will be located in front of the window.  She does not want that many doors for 

security reasons. 

 

Mr. Wade said he is ok with the application stating the applicants are spending a lot of money to 

get this done.  He said the applicants don’t have to be in the historic zone, they could move 

somewhere else.  Mr. Wade said the Commission needs to be aware of that and need to have a 

balance.  He said the applicants have gone overboard to accommodate the Commission.  The 

Commission needs to be understanding as they don’t want to run people away from the Historic 

Zoning. 

 

Ms. Anderson agreed but said the Commission wants to give them advice.  

 

Mr. Wade agreed but there needs to be leeway there. 

 

Ms. Belcher made a motion to approve: 1) replacement of the garage door with three (3) 

windows to match the other windows on front of the house, 2) to add three (3) windows on 



HZC Minutes 

October 29, 2015 

 

 

 

 

16 

the north side of the garage, 3) to add an attached garage behind the existing garage, and 4) 

to close in the breezeway and raise the roofline above the breezeway.  The motion was 

seconded by Mr. Becker. 

 

Chairman Backlund said some of Mr. Thompson’s points were relevant and reminded everyone 

the Historic District has guidelines the Commission is bound by, not just their opinions.   

 

Mr. Neely asked why the subject house is the only house on Maney that is in the historic district. 

 

Chairman Backlund said there are two National Register Districts in Murfreesboro.  He said one 

is East Main Street and the other is Maney Avenue National Register District.  He said those are 

districts on the National Register of Historic Places, however the city has only created one city 

historic district which is the East Main Street Historic District.  He is not familiar with when that 

district was created but it sort of jogs here and there and comes half-way between College and 

Lytle and in some places goes all the way to Lytle.  He said he does not know the history of that 

particular block.   

 

The motion was approved with a four (4) in favor and one (1) vote opposed. 

 

Mr. Neely asked if gas lights on the front porch would be an issue. 

 

Ms. Anderson said no. 

 

Ms. Anderson thanked the Neely’s for working with the Commission. 

 

Ms. Anderson made a motion to adjourn.  The motion was seconded by Mr. Wade and 

carried unanimously in favor. 

 

The meeting adjourned at 4:45 P.M. 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________________       ____________________________________ 

CHAIRMAN               SECRETARY 




